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HUD Rules Long Beach
Violated Section 3
Employment Requirements

The Department of Housing and Urban Development
(HUD) has handed low-income residents and job seekers
of the City of Long Beach, California, a significant victory.
After a six-year wait, HUD responded to an administrative
complaint filed by individual public housing residents and
the Carmelitos Tenants Association, ruling in an April 26,
2004, letter that the City of Long Beach violated Section 3
of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968.!

The purpose of Section 3 is to ensure that employ-
ment and other economic opportunities generated by cer-
tain HUD financial assistance shall, to “the greatest extent
feasible,” and consistent with existing federal, state, and
local laws and regulations, be directed to low- and very
low-income persons, particularly those who are recipi-
ents of government assistance for housing, and to busi-
ness concerns which provide economic opportunities to
low- and very low-income persons.? The Section 3 regula-
tions provide that recipients of housing and community
development funds may establish that they have met the
“greatest extent feasible” requirement by committing to
employ and ensuring that their contractors employ “Sec-
tion 3 residents” as at least 30% of all new hires.> A Sec-
tion 3 resident is a very low-income person residing in the
metropolitan area.* Priority in hiring is provided to Sec-
tion 3 residents of the service area or neighborhood of the
project.® Recipients of housing and community develop-
ment funds must receive a threshold amount of assistance
before they are subject to Section 3.°

HUD ruled that the city violated Section 3 by failing to
ensure that it and its contractors met or exceeded the 30%
minimum requirements of the Section 3 regulations. In
reaching that conclusion, it stated that Section 3 “emphasizes
results” and that numerical goals of Section 3 ““represent
minimum numerical targets’ because ‘the greatest extent

'Letter from Carolyn Peoples, HUD Assistant Secretary for Fair Housing
and Equal Opportunity, to Heather A. Mahood, Long Beach, CA, Deputy
City Attorney (April 26, 2004) [hereinafter HUD Letter].

212 U.S.C.A. § 1701u(b) (West 2001).

24 C.ER. § 135.30(b)(3)(iii) (2003). For recipients of community develop-
ment assistance, Section 3 is applicable to work (including administra-
tive and management) arising from housing rehabilitation, construction
and other public works. 24 C.ER. § 135.3(a)(2) (2003). For example, the
City of Long Beach hired fifteen Section 3 residents to do construction
and landscape maintenance. HUD Letter, supra note 1, at 4.

424 C.FR. § 135.5 (2003).
5Id. at § 135.34(a)(2)(i).

°Id. at § 135.3(a)(3) (Section 3 applies for community development funds
if the assistance exceed $200,000 and the contract exceeds $100,000).
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feasible’ is the standard by which a recipient’s compliance
with Section 3 is measured.”” Most significantly, HUD
determined that compliance with this standard enabled it
to quantify the percentage of hours worked by Long Beach
Section 3 new hires and compare it to the hours worked by
all new hires on the project in order to evaluate if the hours
worked reflect the “greatest extent feasible.?

To rely solely on the number of new hires would allow
a recipient to “defy the intent of Section 3 by having a ‘hir-
ing surge’ on the last day(s) of a project.”” In addition,
HUD stated that the city had to demonstrate compliance
for the duration of the project, which involved “many
points of view and of time to measure meaningful compli-
ance.”'® Notably, compliance was required for each year of
the contract and full compliance only in the last year (or
“catch up” compliance) would not satisfy the obligation of
“greatest extent feasible.” Finally, HUD emphasized that
the appropriate beneficiaries of Section 3 were residents of
the City of Long Beach."

Factual Background of the Case

The City of Long Beach received a Section 108 loan
guarantee for $40 million.”? Section 108 authorizes HUD
to guarantee the issuance of local taxable bonds to help
finance community development activities. The maxi-
mum loan amount may not exceed five times the most
recent Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). To
assure repayment, the recipient must pledge future CDBG
grants received.’ The application must also show how the
proposed activities will meet the national objectives of the
CDBG program. Recipients of Section 108 loans are obli-
gated to comply with Section 3.1*

The purpose of the loan was to construct a “commer-
cial harbor and public esplanades in support of a high-
quality, downtown waterfront project involving retail
and restaurant development, entertainment facilities,
commercial boat tours and charters, and a 150,000 square

7Id. at § 135.30(a)(4) (2003); HUD Letter, supra note 1, at 12 (emphasis in
original).

SHUD Letter, supra note 1, at 11.

°Id. at 10. “After notice of the complaint, however, evidence shows that
Valley Crest hired 18 Long Beach Section 3 new hires from June 10, 1998,
to June 30, 1998. Also, from July 1, 1998 to the end of the Project, Valley

Crest and its subcontractors hired most of their Long Beach Section 3
new hires.” Id. at 8.

WHUD Letter, supra note 1, at 9.
BHUD Letter, supra note 1, at 7.

1242 U.S.C.A. § 5308 (West, WESTLAW through P.L. 108-234, approved
May 28, 2004).

1. at § 5308(d).

1424 C.ER. § 135.3(a)(2) (2003) (community development assistance that
is used for housing construction or rehabilitation or other public con-
struction is subject to Section 3); 24 C.ER. § 570.208(a)(4) (2003) (criteria

for national objectives for CDBG program includes job creation or reten-
tion activities).

foot aquarium.”"™ The city signed documents stating that
it would comply with Section 3 and made statements
in its application that the city would use resources pro-
vided under the Jobs Training Partnership Act (JTPA) to
train underemployed and unemployed residents of Long
Beach.!® The application also described the extreme pov-
erty surrounding the proposed project site and asserted
that “[t]hese are the census tracts which would benefit
most directly from the service and construction jobs cre-
ated by [the project] initiated by the loan.”"”

Valley Crest became the principal
contractor for phase two despite the fact
that only 2% of its new hires in the first

phase were Section 3 residents.

The city executed the loan agreement with HUD in
September 1995, and entered into a construction agree-
ment with C.A. Rasmussen, Inc. to begin the first phase
of the development on October 29, 1996."® The contrac-
tors finished the second and final phase of the work in the
spring of 2000."” Valley Crest, a subcontractor for phase
one of the project, became the principal contractor for
phase two despite the fact that only one out of fifty new
employees—2% of its new hires—in the first phase were
Section 3 residents.” The city did not advise Valley Crest
of the legal preference for Section 3 residents from Long
Beach until February 5, 1998, fourteen months after the
development began and five months after the commence-
ment of the second phase of the project.”!

Prior to the signing of the contract with Rasmussen,
the complainants contacted the director of the project to
“encourage compliance with Section 3.”% Also prior to
the signing of the contract, they sought assistance from
the director of the civil rights division of the Los Ange-
les HUD office who investigated and advised the city

BHUD Letter, supra note 1, at 1.

1 Administrative Complaint of the Carmelitos Tenants Association and
individual tenants at 2 (June 9, 1998) [hereinafter Administrative Com-
plaint]. The legal aid attorneys who filed the Administrative Complaint
were Dennis Rockway, Senior Counsel and Susanne Browne, Staff
Attorney. They are now with the Legal Aid Foundation of Los Angeles
(LAFLA).

Id. at 3.

BHUD Letter, supra note 1, at 3.
YId. at 4.

YHUD Letter, supranote 1, at 7.
2[d. at 6-7.

ZAdministrative Complaint, supra note 16, at 3.
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to “begin to understand and implement Section 3 as
required.”” On June 9, 1998, after the city continued to
ignore the complainants, with virtually no participation
from low-income residents of Long Beach, complainants
filed an administrative complaint with HUD.

Elements of the Administrative Complaint

The administrative complaint filed by the Carmelitos
Tenants Association and public houisng residents with
HUD alleged that the city failed:

1. to undertake activities to facilitate the training and
employment of Section 3 residents from the City of
Long Beach and to award contracts to Section 3 busi-
nesses in violation of the regulations;*

2. to notify Section 3 residents of training, employment
and contracting opportunities in a manner consistent
with the regulations;*

3. to assist and actively cooperate with HUD to obtain
compliance with Section 3 by its contractors and sub-
contractors;? and

4. to document actions taken to comply with Section 3
including the results of such actions and impediments
encountered.”

Relief Sought in Administrative Complaint

The complainants sought a comprehensive remedy
for the city’s violation of Section 3 requirements.?® They
requested that HUD suspend financial support to the city
until compliance with Section 3 was documented. The
documentation soughtincluded information regarding the
hiring of Section 3 residents from the City of Long Beach

BId.

#Administrative Complaint, supra note 16, at 8-9; HUD Letter, supra
note 1, at 2. See also 24 C.ER. § 135.32(c) (2003) (obligates recipients to
undertake activities to facilitate training and employment of Section 3
residents and the award of contracts to Section 3 business concerns by
engaging in activities such as those set forth in the appendix to 24 C.ER.
Part 135). The term Section 3 business is defined at 24 C.ER. § 135.5.

»Administrative Complaint, supra note 16, at 4-5; HUD Letter, supra
note 1, at 2. See also 24 C.ER. § 135.32(a) (2003) (obligates recipients to
implement procedures to notify Section 3 residents and businesses about
training and employment opportunities and Section 3 businesses about
contracting opportunities).

%Administrative Complaint, supra note 16, at 6-8; HUD Letter, supra note
1, at 3. See also 24 C.F.R. § 135.32(d) (2003) (obligates recipients to assist
and actively cooperate with the Assistant Secretary to obtain the compli-
ance of contractors and subcontractors with Section 3 regulations).

¥ Administrative Complaint, supra note 16, 10-13; HUD Letter, supra note
1, at 3. See also 24 C.ER. § 135.32(e) (2003) (requires recipients to docu-
ment action taken to comply with Section 3 requirements, the results of
such actions taken and impediments encountered, if any).

#Administrative Complaint, supra note 16, at 15-18.

and activities undertaken to facilitate economic opportu-
nities for Section 3 businesses. In addition, the complaint
sought to impose strict monitoring and reporting require-
ments on the city, and a plan setting forth strategies to
promote the economic benefits for Section 3 residents
and businesses. The complaint further requested that the
city set aside funds for the training and employment of
low-income individuals who should have benefitted from
the project, independent monitoring and technical assis-
tance for local Section 3 businesses. The relief sought also
included a request that the city establish a local oversight
committee composed of representatives of the city, the
community, legal services organizations, HUD, state and
federal legislative officials and organized labor. Finally,
the complainants requested that HUD assistance should
be divided into smaller projects to provide maximum par-
ticipation by small local businesses, that the city set aside
bonding and loan guarantee funds to assist small local
business participation and that the project construction
contracts include language providing for penalties for
failure to fulfill Section 3 employment obligations.

SAVE THE DATES

2004 Housing Justice Network Meeting
October 3-4

Housing Training October 2

The next meeting of the Housing Justice Net-
work (HJN) is October 3 and 4 in Washington, D.C.
HJN is a national association of attorneys and other
advocates focusing on federal low-income housing
programs. The 2004 HJN meeting will give mem-
bers of the various HJN working groups—which
address issues from public housing to federal relo-
cation requirements to civil rights—an opportunity
to meet in person and work on issues of concern to
housing advocates and their clients.

A one-day training session will be held on Octo-
ber 2, immediately preceding the HJN meeting to
address recent judicial, legislative and administrative
changes affecting the federal housing programs. The
training and meeting are separate events, although
many participants attend both.

A more detailed announcement about the 2004
HJN meeting and the training event will appear in a
future issue of the Housing Law Bulletin. To be added
to the HJN mailing list, contact Amy Siemens at
NHLP, 510-251-9400 ext. 111, asiemens@nhlp.org.
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HUD Analysis, Conclusions and Relief

In addition to the key findings mentioned above,
HUD determined in its review that when the complaint
was filed on June 9, 1998, the percentage of new hires of
residents from the City of Long Beach was 5.19% for Phase
I which was completed on February 20, 1998, and 7.5% for
Phase II of the project which began on September 8, 1997,
and was completed in the spring of 2000. HUD therefore
concluded that the 30% minimum requirement had not
been met.” After the complaint was filed, the contractor
did attempt to hire more Section 3 residents from the City
of Long Beach. Eventually, HUD found that cumulatively
for the period of the project, 31.4% of the new hires were
Section 3 residents. Significantly, however, HUD also
found that level of compliance was not sufficient because
“[r]ecipient’s new Section 3 employee hiring, however,
resulted in them working 19% of the “total hours’ by all
new hires.”?® In addition, HUD found that no Section 3
businesses benefitted from the project.”

HUD also found other examples that demonstrated
that the city and its contractors did not attempt “to the
greatest extent feasible” to comply with Section 3. These
included:

e The city did not as promised provide to the carpen-
ters” and laborers” unions names of qualified Section 3
residents who had received pre-employment training
under the JTPA.

e During the construction stage, the city had no mecha-
nism to collect data regarding Section 3 compliance
and its community outreach strategy was never fully
developed.

e The city failed to direct the Section 3 opportunities to
residents of government assisted housing, including
public housing residents and tenant-based Section 8
program participants.®

e There was no evidence that the city notified Section 3
businesses about contracting opportunities available
at the project.®

Having found the city in violation in its April 26 letter,
HUD ordered the city to submit a plan within ninety days
which in “clear and convincing” detail specifies how it will
restore all Section 3 employment and business opportuni-
ties within the next three years. The opinion is clear that
the opportunities set forth “must not duplicate existing

PHUD Letter, supra note 1, at 3 and 11.

OId. at 11.

3d. at 13.

32[d. at 13; 24 C.E.R. § 135.1(a) (2003).

HUD Letter, supra note 1, at 13. See also 24 C.ER. pt 135 app. (2003).
¥HUD Letter, supra note 1, at 13.

obligations or commitments.”* The city must file quar-
terly reports. If within the next five years HUD determines
that the city is not in compliance, the letter states that the
city’s “eligibility for continued HUD federal funding will
be evaluated in relation to the amount of Section 3 require-
ments remaining to be restored.”*

Conclusion

The results obtained by the Carmelitos complainants
are significant. Advocates have been urging HUD for
many years to adopt standards and measure compliance
with Section 3 based on the number of hours worked by
Section 3 residents, rather than simply counting new hires.
Failure to count the actual hours worked has resulted in
the manipulation of the process and a surge of new hires
at the end of a contract period. HUD has now formally
recognized the critical importance of this concept.

The decision is also significant because it measures
compliance by year and not cumulatively at the end of the
contract term, which may span several years. In addition,
the letter opinion is important as it recognizes another
issue emphasized by advocates: with the expenditure of
housing and community development funds, cities and
other entities have a special duty to reach out to public
housing residents and voucher participants.*®* The HUD
opinion leaves some gaps, the most glaring of which is that,
although it states that the city did not meet the contracting
goals for Section 3 businesses, it does not expressly cite the
Section 3 business contracting goals: 10% of all contracts
for public construction and 3% of all other contracts.”

These favorable determinations, if widely publicized
by HUD and advocates and applied nationwide, will go
a long way in ensuring that Section 3 residents benefit
from long-term employment opportunities generated by
federal financial assistance for housing and community
development. B

®Id. at 14.

SHUD noted that the city operates a voucher program for approximately
5,500 families and the Carmelitos public housing development has 565
family units. HUD Letter, supra note 1, at 13.

724 CFR. § 135.30(c) (2003).
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